























COUNT 2
(Conspira¢y to Distribute and Possess with Intent to Distribute Controlled Substances and
Controlled Substance Analogues, 21 U.S.C. § 846)
The Grand Jury further charges:

12.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 11 of this Indictment are hereby repeated,
re-alleged, and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

13. From in or around March 2020 to in or around December 2020, in the Northern
District of Ohio, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, Defendants FRANK GORDON III and
SHAWN GILREATH, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did unlawfully,
knowingly, and intentionally combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other to
distribute and possess with intent to distribute a mixture and substance containing a detectable
amount of 4-Fluoro-MDMB-BUTINACA, a positional isomer of the Schedule I controlled
substance SF-AMB; and MDMB-4en-PINACA, a Schedule I controlled substance analogue as
defined in Title 21, United States Code, Section 802(32), knowing that the substance was
intended for human consumption as provided in Title 21, United States Code, Section 813, in
violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C).

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.

COUNT 3
(Distribution of a Controlled Substance, 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C))

The Grand Jury further charges:

14. On or about March 23, 2020, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
Defendant FRANK GORDON III did knowingly and intentionally distribute to Shawn Gilreath a
mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of 4-F luorb-MDMBQBUTINACA, a
positional isomer of the Schedule I controlled substance SF-AMB, in violation of Title 21,

United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C).






802(32), knowing that the substance was intended for human consumption as provided in Title
21, United States Code, Section 813, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections
841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C).

FORFEITURE

The Grand Jury further charges:

18.  For the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 21, United States Code,
Section 853, the allegations of Counts 2 through 6 are hereby re-alleged and incorporated herein
by reference. As a result of the foregoing offenses, Defendants FRANK GORDON III and
SHAWN GILREATH shall forfeit to the United States any and all property constituting or
derived from any proceeds they obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of the violations
charged in Counts 2 through 6; and, any and all property used or intended to be used, in any
manner or part, to commit or to facilitate the commission of the violations charged in Counts 2

through 6.
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Acting United States Attorney
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